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Summary

An archaeological watching brief was undertaken by Neville Hall MIFA during the
groundworks pertaining to the construction of a new single storey rear extension at 18/20
Michaelgate, Lincoln, Lincolnshire. The archaeological monitoring was carried out at the
development site on the 15" of June 2013.

The archaeological monitoring identified a simple deposit sequence of a modern made
ground deposit which incorporated a disturbed topsoil within its matrix throughout the
monitored area.

The archaeological monitoring did not identify any archaeological activity, did not locate
the line of Ermine Street as it did not achieve a sufficient depth to do so, or of any
evidence of other multi-period archaeological activity identified nearby. A small
assemblage of 19" — 20" century pottery was recovered, but was not retained.
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Introduction

Neville Hall MIFA was commissioned by Mr. Steve Edwards to undertake an
archaeological watching brief during the groundworks pertaining to the construction of a
new single storey rear extension at 18/20 Michaelgate, Lincoln, Lincolnshire, centred at
National Grid Reference SK 97616 71659. The archaeological monitoring was carried out
at the development site on the 15" of June 2013.

The work was carried out according to the requirements of an archaeological condition,
which was attached to the granting of planning consent for this development by Lincoln
City Council, the Local Planning Authority (LPA), and acting on the advice of the Heritage
Team Leader of Lincoln City Council, in their capacity as archaeological advisor on
planning issues to the LPA. This is in accordance with the principles established in NPPF:
Planning for the Historic Environment: Historic Environment Planning Practice Guide
(Department of Culture, Media and Sport, 2010), and Standard and guidance for
archaeological watching briefs (IFA, 2008).

Copies of the final report will be deposited with the client, the Heritage Team Leader of
Lincoln City Council, (on behalf of the local planning authority), Lincoln City Council
Planning Department, the Lincolnshire Heritage Environment Record (HER) and The
Collection, Lincoln, along with an ordered project archive for long term storage and
curation.

2. Site Location and Description

21

2.2

3.1

The development site is located within the built up urban area of the City of Lincoln, on
the eastern frontage of Michaelgate with other adjoining residential properties to the
north-east, east and south-west respectively. The development site is situated at National
Grid Reference SK 97616 71659 and at a height of approximately 45mAOD [Figures 1-
3.

The development site is situated on the south facing scarp slope of the Jurassic
limestone escarpment. The overlying soils of the area comprise fine loamy and fine
clayey soils of the Wickham 2 Series, which in turn overlie the Lower Lias limestones of
the Jurassic [BGS, 1973; Soil Survey 1983].

Planning Background

A planning application for the proposed erection of a new single storey rear extension at
18/20 Michaelgate, Lincoln, Lincolnshire, (Planning Reference: 2013/0024/F) has been
submitted to and granted consent by Lincoln City Council, the Local Planning Authority
[Figure 4]. However, as the proposed development is situated within an archaeologically
sensitive area and in an area of high archaeological potential, two archaeological
conditions (Nos. 3 and 4) were attached to this consent which stated that:

Condition 3: No development shall take place within the application area until the
applicant has secured the implementation of an appropriate programme of archaeological
work in accordance with a Written Scheme of Investigation (WSI) which has been
submitted to and approved by the City of Lincoln Council as Local Planning Authority.
The development shall be undertaken only in full accordance with the approved WSI. No
variation shall take place without the prior written consent of the Local Planning Authority.
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Figure 1: Site location at scale 1:25,000.

The site is shown in red. (O.S. copyright
licence number 100048723)

Condition 4: The applicant shall notify the Local Planning Authority of the intention to
commence all works at least 7 days before commencement. Thereafter, the programme
of archaeological work shall be completed in accordance with the approved Written
Scheme of Investigation (WSI), including any necessary fieldwork, post-excavation
analysis, report writing and archive deposition, as detailed in the approved scheme. The
report shall be prepared and deposited with the City Council’s Heritage Team within the
LPA and the Lincolnshire Historic Environment Record, within six months of completion of
the archaeological works. The archive shall be deposited with The Collection
(Lincolnshire Museums) within 12 months of the completion of site works. No variation
shall take place without prior written consent of the LPA

A specification or written scheme of works for the archaeological watching brief was
submitted to and agreed by the Heritage Team Leader of Lincoln City Council, (on behalf
of the local planning authority), prior to the commencement of the on-site archaeological
monitoring.

4. Aims and Objectives of the Archaeological Watching Brief

4.1

4.2

The aims of the watching brief were the continual archaeological monitoring and
recording of the groundworks phase of development at the site, which comprised the
mechanical excavation of the foundations for the new single storey rear extension.

The objectives of the project were:

To establish the presence/absence of archaeological remains within the area of the
development site;

To determine the extent, condition, nature, character, quality and date of any
archaeological remains encountered;

To allow the preservation by record of archaeological deposits;

To produce a project archive for deposition with The Collection, Lincoln; and
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Figure 2: Site location at scale 1:1,250. The site is shown in red.

To provide information for accession to the Lincolnshire County Historic Environment
Record (HER) and the Lincoln Heritage Database (LHD).

The development site is situated within an area of high archaeological potential, to the
immediate east of the site of the Roman legionary fortress and within the area of the
Roman colonia of Lindum. The development site is also located directly on the line of
Ermine Street, the course of this was discovered to the south in 1984. 18/20 Michaelgate
itself dates from around 1830, the proposed rear extension will be located in the back
garden of this property. Other multi-period archaeological settlement activity has also
been detected from archaeological investigations to the south of the development site.
The specific objectives of the project were to record any further evidence of the line of
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Figure 3: Plan showing the pre-groundworks layout of the development site at an original scale of 1:50, (not to scale).
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Figure 4: Plan showing the proposed layout of the development site at an original scale of 1:50, (not to scale).




Ermine Street along with other potential multi-period archaeological activity and finds
during the course of the archaeological monitoring.

5. Archaeological and Historical Background

5.1

5.2

5.3

54

5.5

5.6

5.7

Background research sources were consulted at the Lincolnshire Archives, and the
Lincoln Local Studies Library. A search was made of the Lincoln Heritage Database
(LHD) of the immediate area of the development site.

The legionary Roman fortress had originally been established as the base of Legio IX
Hispana, but by the end of that decade they had been replaced in Lindum by the Legio Il
Adintrix. The fortress defences were aligned east-west and consisted of a single ditch
and rampart which enclosed an area of around 16.6 hectares. The rampart consisted of a
double row of turves with the area between the two turve walls filled with the outcast from
the ditch. The rampart was surmounted by a timber palisade and walkway, There were
also four gates set at the cardinal points in the walls. The fortress was abandoned with its
defences intact at around cAD79. The site of this legionary fortress is located to the
immediate west of Michaelgate and is included as part of the scheduled area of the
subsequent Roman colonia of Lindum (SM No. 1003569; SAM 115/29) [Jones et al,
2003].

A colonia was established in the late 90sAD for demobilised veterans, who occupied the
evacuated fortress, the site of the old praetorium being used for a new timber built forum
and basilica. The defences of the legionary fortress were embellished and strengthened
with a stone cladding of 1.20m in thickness along the entire outer wall of the rampart. The
gates were also clad in stone at this time. Part of this wall overlay the legionary fortress
ditch which had been infilled. All four gateways were rebuilt in ¢c.AD220-30. Various
portions of the colonia walls were strengthened and refurbished and other parts
completely rebuilt. Portions of this colonia are scheduled. One such scheduled area lies
to the immediate south of the southern boundary of the development site (SM No
1003569. SAM115/32) [ibid].

An east-west orientated Roman wall was recorded during the excavation of a service
trench prior to the laying of a sewer pipe across Michaelgate (MON 8430, RE 412;
ON322). The wall was constructed of stone with a single course of tile incorporated within
its fabric. It was found at a depth of 0.50m below the street surface and extended to a
depth of 3.0m. The wall had a stepped foundation below courses of brickwork. Its function
is unknown as it overlies Ermine Street.

In 1900, at Chestnut House, 11, Steep Hill, a Roman tessellated pavement was found in
the garden of this property and just inside a back gate which led onto Michaelgate (MON
3479, RE 3139). This find was made just to the south of the development site.

Ermine Street was a major thoroughfare from the south, taking a direct route up the
hillside to the south gate of the colonia [Jones et al, 2003]. This course was confirmed by
archaeological investigation in 1984 when the line of Ermine Street was discovered in
between the line of the modern streets of Michaelgate and Steep Hill (MCH84). Here
Ermine Street was formed of monumental steps interspersed with ramps providing a
ceremonial approach to the colonia from the south.

To the south of the development site at Chestnut House, 11, Steep Hill an archaeological
evaluation involving the excavation of three trenches was undertaken in 1984-5 (RE 141
& RE 1344-6; MCH84). The findings from this evaluation were multi-period in nature and
comprised: traces of a Roman building composed of patches of limestone fragments,
(MON 338); a stretch of rough metalling, which may have been a thoroughfare, (possibly
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5.10

part of Ermine Street) or a possible yard surface, (MON 340); a north-south aligned flight
of four ornamental steps interspersed with ramps and on the same alignment at Ermine
Street with a kerb, drain and paving, such a pedestrian stepped way may have had a
processional function, or may have been part of a town house, temple or possible
situated on the western edge of Ermine Street, (MON 339); a late Saxon/early medieval
pit, (MON 341); a layer or possible floor surface, possible the only surviving remains of a
timber structure of late Saxon/early medieval date, (MON 342); late Saxon/early medieval
pits, (MON 343); traces of an earthen floor surface, or the remnants of a late Saxon/early
medieval building, (MON 344); a late Saxon/early medieval building cut into a late Roman
destruction deposit, (MON 345); a small late Saxon/early medieval pit, (MON 346); a
small structure with stone foundations within construction trenches of late Saxon/early
medieval date, (MON 347); a late Saxon/early medieval rubbish pit, (MON 348) and a
foundation trench for a north-south orientated wall of up to four courses in height of
irregular limestone blocks and slabs, which may have been the south-western corner of a
structure or a possible boundary wall of late Saxon/early medieval date, (MON 239).

Medieval findings from this evaluation included: a shallow pit, (MON 350); an east-west
aligned wall and a make-up layer for a limestone chip floor surface, suggesting a possible
structure, (MON 351); an earth fast building, which appears to have been superseded by
a later building, (MON 352); pits, at least one of which contained domestic refuse, (MON
353); three pits, (MON 354); layers that may have represented floor surfaces of a
possible building, (MON 355); the walls of a structure, (MON 356); a substantial wall
which was possibly the south-eastern corner of a building, (MON 357); evidence for a
possible timber structure, (MON 358); a stone oven, (MON 359); a pit and a possible
robber trench, (MON 360); thin lenses that may represent occupation or may be internal
to a possible building, (MON 361); a pit, (MON 362); a stone built building, (MON 363);
four late medieval pits, (MON 364-5); a wall suggesting a structure or possible a
boundary wall of late medieval date, (MON 366); a wall suggesting a structure of late
medieval date, (MON 367); late medieval postholes or small pits, (MON 368); two pits
and three postholes of late medieval date, (MON 369); a late medieval pit, (MON 370)
and a late medieval pit that may have been reused as a robber trench, (MON 371).

To the south of the development site, an archaeological evaluation was undertaken to the
south of 20 Michaelgate in 2005 (RE 9574-6; MGLO05). This evaluation identified a
medieval mortar floor that was partially covered by a deposit of early 14th - mid 15th
century date, and was possibly the internal floor of a contemporary building, (MON 5622);
two medieval pits (MON 5623); part of a large medieval or post-medieval pit of over 2m in
diameter, (MON 5624); a 19th century brick culvert or cistern associated a contemporary
property on Michaelgate, (MON 5625); a post-medieval floor surface, (MON 5626);
medieval wall footings which ran parallel to Michaelgate, of 1.12m in width and 0.30m in
depth, which had been demolished by a probable 13th century rear wall of a building that
had fronted onto Michaelgate. (MON 5627); a post-medieval building that had fronted
onto the west side of Michaelgate, evidence for which comprised a wall of limestone
blocks, 1.55m in width and up to three courses in height, which ran parallel to
Michaelgate with a second wall meeting the first at right angles, also of limestone
fragments and also up to three courses in height along with a floor surface, (MON 5628)
and a large modern pit with five fills which yielded redeposited medieval and Roman
pottery, (MON 5629) and five late medieval/post-medieval pits, (MON 372-4).

The present thoroughfare of Michaelgate (MON 783) would appear to have had medieval
origins. It is first documented as Parchemingate (vicuparca(u)menaroruim) in AD1147-8.
It is later referred to as 'The Old Coach Road' in 1817 and in ¢c1830 as Michaelgate. It
was also called Fish Hill (1819-68) as the fish/high market was held at the corner of
Michaelgate and Steep Hill from cAD1200 onwards. Structures from the 14th century to
the post-medieval period which were aligned with the street were recorded in 2005 on the
east side. Numbers 1, 3, 5 and 7, Michaelgate were included in a clearance order and
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were demolished in 1935. Numbers 5 and 7, Michaelgate were rebuilt by 1941. Numbers
9, 11 and 13 Michaelgate were demolished in 1962-3 [Jones et al, 2003; Cameron,
1985].

Although its exact location is uncertain, the site of the medieval hospital of St Mary
Magdalene is thought to be located in the vicinity of the development site (MON 877). It
was described as 'being by Lincoln' in AD1401 and was a hospital for the poor. According
to the Victoria County History of Lincolnshire, the hospital was in existence prior to
AD1311. The building is reputed to have been still standing in AD1402.

To the south-west of the development site is the supposed site of the church of St Peter
ad vincula (MON 814). This site is marked as such on the First Edition O.S. map of 1887.
In 1730 it is supposed to have stood in an orchard called 'Daniels Garth or Daniels
Paddock'. There is no evidence from medieval documentary sources to support the
church at this location and it first appears in documents dating to the 17th century.
Another dedication to this church is St Peter at Stone Beck Head, though there is
similarly no medieval source for this.

To the south-west of the development site and to the west of Michaelgate, an
archaeological evaluation in 1978 revealed indications of a medieval building on the top
of a terrace, (MON 308, RE1353; MG78).

An east-west aligned limestone wall of late medieval date (MON 5754) extends close
between the rear yards of 11 and 11A Steep Hill. On its southern side, nine courses of
limestone blocks are visible to a height of approximately 1.10m. There was a loose rubble
infill with substantial stones on its northern side which included both dressed and
chamfered stones. The rear of 11 Steep Hill abutted this wall and its extension was
probably built upon it. The wall has a width of 0.80m and is interpreted as a retaining wall.

The Lincoln Heritage Database records 18/20 Michaelgate as a single storey stone
cottage, constructed around 1830, that was later heightened in brick and is now two
houses (MON 7775). The adjoining property to the north are Frome Cottages,
Michaelgate, previously known as Bird Cage Walk (MON 2660). This was originally a
group of five dwellings constructed around 1849 in the east side of Michaelgate. There
are now two dwellings at this location, which were partly rebuilt around 1975. To the
south, the adjoining property is 11, Steep Hill, known as Chestnut House (MON 3524).
This house was added to the west of 11A Steep Gate, (an earlier house) in 1895. 11
Steep Gate was used along with 11A as a school until 1940. 11A was renumbered in
1947 when the two buildings were converted into separate dwellings. 11A Steep Gate
(MON 1909) is a Grade Il listed building dating to around 1750. and is known as Waterloo
House.

To the east of Frome Cottages, is a water pump to the rear of 13 Steep Hill (MON 8561).
This is featured on a plan of the town of 1886 and it presumably covers a well in the rear
garden of this property.

A watching brief was carried out during the excavation of a gas pipe trench along
Michaelgate in 1983 (RE 284; ON21). This did not identify any archaeological activity. An
archaeological watching brief on the excavation of a trench in Michaelgate in 2002
associated with the relining and reconfiguration of a water mains did not detect any
archaeological deposits or finds (RE 7907, LWMRO02).

In 1993, an archaeological watching brief took place at 18, Steep Hill during the
groundworks for a new extension, (RE646, ON483). One layer or dump deposit was
observed consisting of modern compacted earth overlying modern services. In 1994, a
further archaeological watching brief was carried out during the excavation of service



5.19

5.20

5.21

5.22

trenches at 16, Steep Hill (RE664, ON493). No archaeological activity or finds were
found.

An archaeological evaluation in 2004 at 11, Steep Hill comprising the excavation of a
single test pit to a depth of 1.20m below ground levels only recorded a dump of 20th
century material, which was possibly associated with the construction of 11, Steep Hill
(RE 8874, LISHO4).

As part of the background research for this project, a detailed map regression exercise
was undertaken. On Padley's map of Lincoln of 1842, the development site is shown as a
pair of rectangular shaped cottages with 20, slightly larger than 18. Both cottages are
situated within a single land plot. There are small outbuildings along the southern and
eastern boundaries of this land plot. The same layout to the development site is featured
on Padley's map of Lincoln of 1851. Padley's revised map of Lincoln of Lincoln of 1868
similarly shows the same layout to the area of the development site. This site layout is
similarly repeated on the Padley and Thropp map of Lincoln of 1883. [Mills & Wheeler,
2004].

The extract from the First Edition 25 inch to one mile scale Ordnance Survey (0.S.) map
of 1887 shows 18/20 Michaelgate as two separate dwellings with the land plot now
bisected by a north west-south east property boundary. The outbuildings along the
southern boundary of this land plot have been removed and a single larger rectangular
shaped outbuilding, probably a privy is located against the eastern boundary of this land
plot. This privy appears to be shared between the two dwellings.

The extract from the Third Edition 25 inch to one mile scale Ordnance Survey (O.S.) map
of 1932 shows no change to the layout of the development site other than small rear
extensions have been added to the two dwellings at 18/20 Michaelgate. The extract from
the 1:2,500 scale Ordnance Survey (O.S.) map of 1966 (supplied by the Lincoln Heritage
Database) shows the rear extensions added to both cottages by 1932, but that the rear
privy shared by both properties at the eastern site boundary has been removed.

6. Methodology

6.1

6.2

6.3

6.4

The archaeological monitoring of the groundworks pertaining to this development was
undertaken by Neville Hall MIFA on the 15" of June 2013. This comprised hand
excavation consisting of ground reduction within the area of the new build footprint to
accommodate a concrete raft foundation for the new rear extension.

Where necessary, surfaces were hand cleaned for examination and recording, and the
deposits observed were recorded on standard pro-forma context recording sheets. A plan
of the monitored groundworks was compiled on site at a scale of 1:50 and is reproduced
in this report at this a scale as Figure 5. One section [designated as Representative
Section 1] was also compiled on site at a scale of 1:20 of the deposit sequence observed
and recorded. These are also reproduced at this scale in this report on Figure 5.

All site levels were taken from a spot height in the midst of Michaelgate— 45.10mOD from
a map plot supplied by the Lincoln Heritage Database utilising a dumpy level. A
complimentary colour digital photographic record was also maintained, which are
reproduced as Plates 1-7, Appendix 1. A list of the contexts recorded is detailed in
Appendix 2.

All work was carried out according to the planning brief, subsequent approved
Specification and to the Institute of Field Archaeologists (IFA) standards and guidance for
archaeological watching briefs (2008).



7. Results [Figure 5; Plates 1-7; Appendix 1]

7.1

7.2

The archaeological watching brief comprised the monitoring of the hand excavation and
hence ground reduction of the area of the new build footprint for the new single storey
rear extension. The extent of this area of ground reduction is shown on Figure 5. The
average depth of this ground reduction was 0.30m below reduced levels. The reduced
levels had comprised the removal of gravel and underlying York stone slabbing within the
area of this new build footprint, which had already been removed prior to arrival.

A modern made ground deposit (001) which incorporated a disturbed topsoil within its
matrix was recorded and observed throughout the area of monitored ground reduction
and extended to the base of these excavations. This deposit sequence was recorded
within Representative Section 1. A small assemblage of 19" and 20" century pottery
was recovered from the deposit (001), but was not retained.

8. Discussion and Conclusions

8.1

8.2

The groundworks pertaining to this development were continually monitored and
recorded. The archaeological monitoring identified a simple deposit sequence of a
modern made ground deposit which incorporated a disturbed topsoil within its matrix
throughout the monitored area.

The archaeological monitoring did not identify any archaeological activity, did not locate
the line of Ermine Street as it did not achieve a sufficient depth to do so, or of any
evidence of other multi-period archaeological activity identified nearby. A small
assemblage of 19" — 20™ century pottery was recovered, but was not retained.

9. Effectiveness of Methodology and Confidence Rating

9.1

The methodology chosen clearly demonstrated the absence of archaeological activity and
the nature of the deposit sequence observed and recorded during the course of the
archaeological monitoring; while providing sufficient time to record the deposit sequence
observed. A more detailed level of archaeological assessment and investigation clearly
would not have been necessary. It is considered that the implemented methodology was
sufficient to ensure the absence of archaeological activity and the nature of the deposit
sequence present within the area of the development site with a high degree of
confidence.
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Appendix 1: Plates

Plate 2: Work in progress, hand ground
reduction, from the north

Plate 3: Work in progress, hand ground
reduction, from the north

=1

Plate 4: Work in progress, hand ground
reduction, from the north

Plate 5: Representative Section 1,
from the south

Plate 6: Work in progress, hand ground
reduction, from the north




Plate 7: Completed hand ground
reduction, from the north




Appendix 2: List of Contexts

001 Modern made ground deposit incorporating a disturbed topsoil. Friable, dark grey brown
sandy silt with small angular stones 5% & small-medium brick/tile fragments 1%.
Recorded within Representative Section 1. Depth - >0.30m.
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